6

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

SEP 07 2018

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002611  
Case No. 2016-CP-42-1592

Beverly Dale Jolly and Brenda Rice Jolly, ..... Respondents,

v.

General Electric Company, et al., ..... Defendants,

Of whom Fisher Controls International LLC and Crosby  
Valve, LLC are the..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

C. Mitchell Brown  
A. Mattison Bogan  
James B. Glenn  
Nicholas A. Charles  
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP  
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor  
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- (1) Whether the trial court erred in denying Fisher Controls International LLC and Crosby Valve, LLC's motions for directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict;
- (2) Whether the trial court abused its discretion in granting Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial nisi additur and increasing Plaintiffs' compensatory damages award by \$1.57 million;
- (3) Whether the trial court erred in approving Plaintiffs' purported internal allocation of one-third of their settlement amounts to "future wrongful death claims" and not applying that portion of the settlements in its setoff calculation when any wrongful death claims are barred as a matter of law;
- (4) Whether the trial court erred in denying Fisher Controls International LLC and Crosby Valve, LLC's motion to quash Plaintiffs' trial subpoenas of Fisher and Crosby's out-of-state corporate representatives.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Plaintiffs Beverly Dale Jolly ("Mr. Jolly") and Brenda Rice Jolly ("Mrs. Jolly") (together, "Plaintiffs"), filed a complaint on April 5, 2017, against sixty-three defendants, including Appellants Fisher Controls International LLC ("Fisher") and Crosby Valve, LLC ("Crosby"). (R. 55). Plaintiffs asserted claims for negligence, strict liability, breach of implied warranty, fraudulent misrepresentation, and loss of consortium based on Mr. Jolly's alleged exposure to asbestos while working for Duke Power Company ("Duke"). (*Id.*).

Prior to trial, Plaintiffs settled with various defendants for a total of \$2,270,000. Although the settlement agreements did not include any allocation of the settlement amounts, Plaintiffs claimed that they "internally" allocated one-third of the settlements to Mr. Jolly's personal injury claim, one-third to Mrs. Jolly's loss of consortium claim, and one-third to "future wrongful death claims." None of the settlements were approved by the Court or made available to Defendants for review.

Prior to trial, on July 11, 2017, Plaintiffs sent subpoenas to Fisher and Crosby's trial counsel in an effort to compel corporate representatives of Fisher and Crosby to appear at trial and

testify during Plaintiffs' case-in-chief. (R. 4626, 4639). Fisher and Crosby moved to quash the subpoenas, but the trial court orally denied their motions after a telephone hearing on July 17, 2017. (R. 333–34, 4619, 4631).

Trial began on July 24, 2017, before Judge Jean H. Toal. (R. 336). During trial, Fisher and Crosby filed a motion to reconsider the trial court's subpoena ruling. (R. 4652). At the conclusion of Plaintiffs' case-in-chief, Fisher and Crosby submitted a motion for directed verdict. (R. 4659). The trial court dismissed Plaintiffs' fraudulent misrepresentation claim but denied the motion on all remaining grounds. (R. 1588–1619). At the conclusion of the trial, the jury rendered a verdict in favor of Plaintiffs on their negligence and breach of warranty claims and awarded \$200,000 in damages to Mr. Jolly and \$100,000 in damages to Mrs. Jolly. (R. 52). The jury found in favor of Fisher and Crosby as to Plaintiffs' strict liability claim. (*Id.*).

On August 11, 2017, Plaintiffs filed a motion for new trial *nisi additur*. (R. 4696). Fisher and Crosby moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (“JNOV”) on August 14, 2017. (R. 4770, 4773). Fisher and Crosby also filed a motion to set off Plaintiffs' pretrial settlement proceeds against the judgment amount. (R. 4758). The trial court denied Fisher and Crosby's motion for JNOV on all grounds, granted Plaintiffs' motion for new trial *nisi additur*, and granted Fisher and Crosby's motion for setoff, but only as to the portions of the settlements that Plaintiffs allocated to Mr. Jolly's personal injury claims and Mrs. Jolly's loss of consortium claims. (R. 11). The trial court also issued a written order on the subpoena issue. (R. 3). Fisher and Crosby appealed.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **I. Background**

Mr. Jolly worked for Duke from 1979 to 2003 at facilities in South Carolina and North Carolina. (R. 64). Between 1980 and 1984, Mr. Jolly worked as a mechanical inspector at the

Oconee, McGuire, and Catawba Nuclear Stations, as well as other facilities. (R. 497–508, 533–34). Mr. Jolly worked around other tradesmen tearing out asbestos insulation and gaskets, which released asbestos fibers into the air. (*Id.*). Mr. Jolly was diagnosed with mesothelioma in late 2015. (R. 471).

Fisher, which has its headquarters in Marshalltown, Iowa, manufactures and sells process control valves used in industrial facilities, including nuclear power plants like Oconee, McGuire, and Catawba. (R. 1300–01). During the time period at issue, Fisher built its valves to Duke’s specifications, incorporated the type of internal gaskets and packing specified by Duke, and shipped the valves to Duke. (R. 1302–05). Although some Fisher valves had flange connections that required gaskets when connected to a pipe, Fisher did not manufacture or sell flange gaskets and did not incorporate flange gaskets into its valves. (R. 1123, 1312–13, 1343–44).

Crosby manufactured safety-related valves for industrial facilities, including nuclear power plants. (R. 1379–80). Like Fisher, Crosby built safety valves pursuant to Duke’s specifications—including Duke’s specifications for the internal components—and shipped those valves to Duke. (R. 1483–85). Crosby, like Fisher, did not manufacture, sell, or otherwise provide external gaskets to Duke or its other customers. (R. 1428).

## **II. Pretrial Issues**

Prior to trial, Plaintiffs purported to serve trial subpoenas on Fisher and Crosby to compel corporate representatives to testify during Plaintiffs’ case-in-chief. (R. 4626, 4639). Plaintiffs sent the subpoenas by FedEx on Fisher and Crosby’s counsel in South Carolina, who signed for the FedEx packages without knowing their contents. (R. 332, 4626, 4639). Fisher and Crosby moved to quash the subpoenas due to improper service, but the trial court ruled that Rule 45, SCRPC,

gave the court the power to compel out-of-state parties who have submitted to the jurisdiction of the court to appear and testify at trial, even without personal service. (R. 333–34).

Fisher and Crosby also moved to exclude the testimony of Plaintiffs’ three expert witnesses—Dr. Arthur L. Frank, Dr. Arnold R. Brody, and Dr. John Maddox—on the grounds that the experts intended to present opinions that “each and every exposure” to asbestos causes mesothelioma. *See* (R. 4371, 4390). Fisher and Crosby argued that no published or peer reviewed literature supports the theory that “each and every exposure” to asbestos causes mesothelioma, and that the theory was at odds with substantial factor causation requirements. (R. 282). The trial court denied the motion without explanation. (R. 286).

Prior to trial, Plaintiffs settled with various defendants for \$2,270,000. None of the settlements were approved by the Court or made available to Fisher or Crosby for review.

### **III. The Evidence at Trial**

At trial, Plaintiffs focused their exposure evidence on Mr. Jolly’s work at Oconee, McGuire, and Catawba from 1980 through 1984. (R. 485–86). Mr. Jolly’s only testimony alleging exposure to asbestos in connection with Fisher or Crosby valves related to flange gaskets, not internal components. (R. 490, 517–18). Mr. Jolly claimed that he stood near other tradesmen who used tools to grind gasket material from valve flanges. (R. 497–500). Mr. Jolly did not testify as to how many of those valves were Fisher or Crosby valves. (R. 503–04).

Mr. Jolly’s former coworker David Taylor testified that although he worked with Mr. Jolly at Oconee and worked on Fisher and Crosby valves, he did not know if the internal components of Crosby valves contained asbestos, did not know how many times the valves may have been previously maintained, and did not know who made replacement flange gaskets used next to Crosby valves. (R. 889, 1038–39, 1048–50). Mr. Taylor did not know what kind of valves Crosby

manufactured. (R. 1033–34). He also did not recall how often he worked on Fisher valves; he only estimated it was more than once every four months. (R. 911). Both Mr. Jolly and Mr. Taylor testified that they received warnings from Duke about the hazards of asbestos in the early 1980s. (R. 507–08, 1025–31).

Tracy Pavlish—Mr. and Mrs. Jolly’s daughter—and Mrs. Jolly each testified briefly about their relationships with Mr. Jolly and their experiences since Mr. Jolly was diagnosed with mesothelioma. (R. 567–93). Mrs. Jolly and Ms. Pavlish testified that Mrs. Jolly suffered a heart attack a few weeks before trial and speculated, without any medical evidence, that it may have been related to Mr. Jolly’s illness. (R. 575, 580–81).

Two of Plaintiffs’ experts—Dr. Frank and Dr. Brody—testified at trial, and Plaintiffs read deposition testimony of Dr. Maddox. None of the experts had examined Mr. Jolly or analyzed the extent of his exposure to asbestos. They testified generally that all exposures to asbestos cause mesothelioma and answered lengthy hypotheticals posited by Plaintiffs’ counsel that asked them to assume certain amounts of asbestos exposure and inevitably ended with the experts opining that, in those hypothetical scenarios not directly based on actual exposure evidence, Fisher and Crosby caused Mr. Jolly’s mesothelioma. *See* (R. 719–22, 1014–15, 1546–48). Counsel for Fisher and Crosby objected to these questions. *See* (R. 722, 731–33, 769). Plaintiffs did not present any testimony from an industrial hygienist or other expert who could demonstrate the actual dose of asbestos to which Mr. Jolly was exposed to while working for Duke. Fisher and Crosby, however, presented specific testimony from an industrial hygienist that Mr. Jolly’s cumulative asbestos exposure from Fisher and Crosby valves was well below the OSHA permissible exposure limits. (R. 1855–56).

Plaintiffs did not introduce *any* of Mr. Jolly's medical bills or medical records into the record. Plaintiffs also failed to elicit testimony from Mr. Jolly's treating doctors or family members about the amount of his medical expenses. Instead, the only evidence of Plaintiffs' economic damages was an expert's (Dr. Frank's) testimony that he had seen "some of the medical bills" related to Mr. Jolly's treatment, totaling \$142,000. (R. 759, 845). Over Defendants' objection, Dr. Frank also gave his opinion "as to what would be the cost of medical care for Mr. Jolly for the care and treatment of his mesothelioma through the time that he might pass away," testifying that Mr. Jolly could incur hundreds of thousands of dollars in treatment. (R. 760–61). Dr. Frank then testified, "Cases even go to a million dollars or more." (R. 761). Dr. Frank later clarified his testimony:

Q: . . . You were asked about the cost of Mr. Jolly's treatment?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And you said about a million dollars?

A: I said it would not be unreasonable to be a million dollars.

(R. 845). Dr. Frank had no explanation for the \$900,000 gap between his estimated medical expenses and the bills he reviewed. (*Id.*)

Finally, as a result of the improperly served subpoenas, Fisher and Crosby's corporate representatives, Ronald Duimstra (Fisher) and Robert James Martin (Crosby) testified in Plaintiffs' case-in-chief. *See* (R. 1068, 1362). Plaintiffs' counsel asked numerous leading questions about Fisher and Crosby's alleged failure to take asbestos safeguards at their own plants, where Mr. Jolly never worked. *See* (R. 1078–81, 1372–76). Plaintiffs' counsel also asked Mr. Duimstra and Mr. Martin about Fisher and Crosby's alleged failure to warn Duke employees about the hazards of asbestos-containing gaskets, even though Mr. Jolly and Mr. Taylor both admitted Duke warned them about the hazards of asbestos. Mr. Duimstra and Mr. Martin testified at length about the sophisticated and detailed manner in which Duke controlled the specifications of the valves Fisher

and Crosby manufactured. (R. 1103, 1110–11, 1328, 1334–35). They further testified that neither company ever manufactured or sold *any* flange gaskets. (R. 1123, 1312–13, 1343–44, 1428, 1487, 1490).

#### **IV. Presentation of Documentary Evidence**

During trial, the trial court allowed Plaintiffs to enter numerous documents into evidence, over Fisher and Crosby's objection, by simply reading them to the jury. *See* (R. 461–69, 640–49). The majority of the documents were purchase orders from Duke to Fisher or Crosby in the early 1990s—nearly a decade after Mr. Jolly's alleged exposure to asbestos. *See (Id.)*. Plaintiffs offered no witnesses to lay a foundation for the admissibility or relevancy of the documents; instead, they relied solely on an affidavit used in a prior asbestos case, which they did not seek to admit as evidence. *(Id.)*. Without a witness on the stand to discuss the documents, Fisher and Crosby did not have any opportunity for relevant cross-examination.

#### **V. The Verdict and Post-Trial Issues**

After deliberating for five hours, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Plaintiffs on their negligence and breach of implied warranty claims. (R. 52). The jury awarded \$200,000 in damages for Mr. Jolly and \$100,000 for Mrs. Jolly on her loss of consortium claim. *(Id.)*. Plaintiffs did not request a special verdict form, and therefore the jury did not allocate the damages awards between medical bills or pain and suffering. *(Id.)*. The jury found in favor of Fisher and Crosby on Plaintiffs' strict liability claim and did not award punitive damages. *(Id.)*.

Fisher and Crosby moved for JNOV and, in the alternative, to set off Plaintiffs' pretrial settlements against the verdict amount. (R. 4770; R. 4758). In support of their motion for JNOV, Fisher and Crosby argued Plaintiffs failed to prove each of their claims as a matter of law. (R. 4773). The trial court denied Fisher and Crosby's motion for JNOV on all grounds. (R. 11).

Plaintiffs moved for new trial *nisi additur*, arguing that the jury's verdict was inadequate and asking the trial court to increase the damages award. (R. 4696). The trial court granted Plaintiffs' motion for new trial *nisi additur*. (R. 11). Despite the lack of a special verdict form, the trial court guessed the jury's \$200,000 verdict for Mr. Jolly consisted of \$142,000 in medical expenses—because Dr. Frank testified that he had seen \$142,000 in medical bills—and \$58,000 in damages for pain and suffering. (R. 11). The trial court then stated that Dr. Frank's testimony that "cases like this" can incur medical bills of "a million dollars or more" was "undisputed," and increased Mr. Jolly's damages for medical expenses to \$1,000,000. (R. 18; R. 755, 759–62). The trial court also assumed the jury failed to award Mr. Jolly damages for loss of enjoyment of life, mental anguish, and "future damages" and increased Mr. Jolly's noneconomic damages to \$580,000, or ten times the \$58,000 the trial court assumed that the jury awarded for those damages. (R. 18). The trial court then awarded \$290,000 to Mrs. Jolly as damages for loss of consortium. (R. 19–20).

The trial court granted, in part, Fisher and Crosby's motion for setoff. The court accepted Plaintiffs' counsels' argument that they had "internally" allocated the \$2,270,000 in settlement funds one-third to personal injury claims, one-third to loss of consortium claims, and one-third to "future wrongful death claims." (R. 44–47). The trial court refused to compel Plaintiffs to produce the settlement agreements, instead reviewing the agreements *in camera* and informing Fisher and Crosby only that Plaintiffs had received \$2,270,000 in settlements. (*Id.*). Based on Plaintiffs' "internal" allocation, the trial court offset Mr. Jolly's personal injury claims and Mrs. Jolly's loss of consortium claims by \$756,666.67 each, which resulted in an award of \$823,333.33 for Mr. Jolly and a complete offset for Mrs. Jolly. (*Id.*). The trial court refused to set off any of the

\$756,666.67 Plaintiffs allocated to “future wrongful death claims” because those claims had not been tried. (*Id.*).

Fisher and Crosby appealed the denial of their motions for directed verdict and JNOV, the trial court’s evidentiary rulings before and during trial, the trial court’s granting of new trial *nisi additur*, and the trial court’s setoff and allocation ruling.

### ARGUMENT

#### **I. The trial court erred in denying Fisher and Crosby’s motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.**

The trial court should have directed verdict for Crosby and Fisher, or granted their motion JNOV, for several independent reasons. First, Plaintiffs failed to prove causation in compliance with South Carolina law. Second, Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden of proof on their failure to warn claims. Third, Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden of proving a design defect under negligence and implied warranty theories. Finally, Plaintiffs’ negligence claims fail because they did not show Fisher or Crosby deviated from the requisite standard of care.

On a motion for a directed verdict or JNOV, the trial court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 331–32, 732 S.E.2d 166, 171 (2012). However, “if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict,” the court must grant a motion for JNOV. *Gastineau v. Murphy*, 331 S.C. 565, 568, 503 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1998). On appeal, this court applies the same standard. *RFT Mgmt. Co.*, 399 S.C. at 331–32, 732 S.E.2d at 171.

#### **A. Plaintiffs failed to show Mr. Jolly’s exposure to asbestos from Fisher and Crosby’s products was a proximate cause of his mesothelioma.**

Plaintiffs attempted to establish causation by eliciting expert testimony that Mr. Jolly was exposed to asbestos from flange gaskets “associated with” Crosby and Fisher valves that were part

of a “cumulative dose” which caused his mesothelioma. However, the “cumulative dose” theory does not comply with South Carolina law on causation and could not sustain Plaintiffs’ claims. Plaintiffs failed to satisfy the causation standard adopted by the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Henderson v. Allied-Signal, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 179, 644 S.E.2d 724 (2007). The trial court should have granted JNOV for Fisher and Crosby on the issue of causation.

- i. **In an asbestos personal injury case, South Carolina law requires proof that asbestos-containing products of the particular defendant in question were a substantial cause of the plaintiff’s injuries; that “each and every” exposure was part of a cumulative dose causing injury is insufficient as a matter of law.**

A plaintiff seeking damages for injuries caused by asbestos exposure must prove he had “actionable exposure” to the specific defendant’s product that was a substantial cause of the injuries. *See Henderson*, 373 S.C. at 185, 644 S.E.2d at 727. To prove actionable exposure, a plaintiff must meet the “frequency, regularity, and proximity” standard (the “*Henderson/Lohrmann* standard”) articulated in *Lohrmann v. Pittsburgh Corning Corp.*, 782 F.2d 1156, 1162 (4th Cir. 1986). *Henderson*, 373 S.C. at 185, 644 S.E.2d at 727; *see also Pace v. Air & Liquid Sys. Corp.*, 642 Fed. App’x 244 (4th Cir. 2016) (claimant must prove that he or she was (1) exposed with frequency, regularity, and proximity to (2) asbestos-containing products (3) that were placed into the stream of commerce by defendant). Where medical causation is at issue and is not within common knowledge—such as the relationship between a particular asbestos exposure and mesothelioma—a plaintiff must prove both general and specific causation through expert testimony. *See Fisher v. Pelstring*, 817 F. Supp. 2d 791, 814 (D.S.C. 2011). “General causation is whether a substance is capable of causing a particular injury or condition in the general population, while specific causation is whether a substance caused a particular individual’s injury.” *Id.* Furthermore, if an expert’s testimony is scientific in nature, then the trial court must determine its

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