THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

SEP 04 2018

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jean Hoefler Toal, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of South Carolina (Retired),
Acting as Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002611
Case No. 2016-CP-42-1592

Beverly Dale Jolly and Brenda Rice Jolly, Respondents,

vs.

General Electric Company, et al.,Defendants,

Of whom Fisher Controls International LLC
and Crosby Valve, LLC are theAppellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Lisa W. Shirley (admitted *pro hac vice*)
Jonathan M. Holder
DEAN OMAR BRANHAM, LLP
300 N. Market Street, Suite 300
Dallas, TX 75202

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the testimony of the Jollys' causation experts.

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the causation opinions of Dr. Frank, Dr. Maddox, and Dr. Brody. Contrary to Defendants' mischaracterization, these experts do not hold the opinion that "any exposure" or "every exposure" or "every asbestos fiber" causes mesothelioma generally or caused Dale's mesothelioma. Dr. Frank and Dr. Maddox, who gave specific causation opinions, testified that Dale's mesothelioma was caused by his cumulative asbestos exposure and that given the specific facts of his exposure to visible asbestos dust from Fisher/Crosby valves regularly for four years, these exposures were a substantial factor in causing Dale's disease. Based on the record evidence, Judge Toal rejected Fisher/Crosby's arguments, finding the testimony of Dr. Frank and Dr. Maddox to be reliable, admissible, and sufficient to meet the *Henderson* causation standard.³

³ Fisher/Crosby also challenge Dr. Brody's opinions, but he only offered general causation testimony. As the federal multi-district (MDL) litigation court has observed in admitting Dr. Brody's testimony, "the purpose of Dr. Brody's testimony [is] to assist the jury in understanding the relationship between exposure to asbestos fibers and disease processes generally" *Larson v. Bondex Int'l*, No. 09-69123, 2010 WL 4676563, at *4 (E.D. Penn. Nov. 15, 2010).

“The decision to admit or exclude testimony from an expert witness rests within the trial court’s sound discretion.” *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (citing *Mizell v. Glover*, 351 S.C. 392, 570 S.E.2d 176 (2002); *State v. Caldwell*, 283 S.C. 350, 322 S.E.2d 662 (1984)). “A trial court’s decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support, or “when the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.” *Fields v. Reg’l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005).

South Carolina Rule of Evidence 702 provides that “[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” S.C. R. Evid. 702. Courts evaluating the admissibility of scientific expert evidence “must find the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable.” *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999). Once the trial court has made the threshold determination that these requirements are met, the jury may give the expert’s testimony such weight as it deems appropriate. *Id.* at 20-21.

A. The experts’ opinions are consistent with the *Henderson* causation standard.

Fisher/Crosby would have this Court believe that Dr. Frank and Dr. Maddox had no factual foundation for their specific causation opinions and that their testimony is at odds with the *Henderson* causation standard. Judge Toal found otherwise. She determined that “[t]he specific causation opinions of Drs. Frank and Maddox were firmly grounded in the exposure

evidence presented at trial.” (R. p. 41). She further found that “[t]he trial testimony of Dr. Frank and Dr. Maddox demonstrates that their causation opinions are based on the record of Mr. Jolly’s repeated exposures to asbestos from Fisher/Crosby valves during four years at Duke, as well as the scientific literature.” (R. pp. 41-42). Their testimony was “supported by the scientific literature as well as the facts of this case, and was relevant and helpful to the jury.” (R. p. 42).

To prove substantial causation in an asbestos case, there must be evidence of “actionable exposure” to a defendant’s asbestos product. *Henderson v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 179, 185, 644 S.E.2d 724, 727 (2007). To determine whether exposure is actionable, South Carolina courts apply the “frequency, regularity and proximity” factors set forth in *Lohrmann v. Pittsburgh Corning Corp.*, 782 F.2d 1156 (4th Cir. 1986). *Id.* Therefore, “[t]o support a reasonable inference of substantial causation from circumstantial evidence, there must be evidence of exposure to a specific product on a regular basis over some extended period of time in proximity to where the plaintiff actually worked.” *Id.* (quoting *Lohrmann*, 782 F.2d at 1162). Simply being in the presence of “static asbestos” will not meet this standard. *Id.*

Although *Henderson* employs a qualitative standard of determining whether a particular asbestos exposure is sufficient to be considered a substantial cause, Fisher/Crosby seek to upend *Henderson* with their insistence that the Jollys should be required to quantify Dale’s dose of exposure from their products. They are encouraging this Court to adopt the harsh and inflexible standard for proving causation utilized in Texas, and a handful of federal district courts, that requires asbestos plaintiffs to quantify their dose of exposure to the defendant’s specific product. *See Borg-Warner Corp. v Flores*, 232 S.W.3d 765, 771-73 (Tex. 2007). This has been recognized as an outlier position, and the quantification requirement has been rejected in other states. *See, e.g., Rost v. Ford Motor Co.*, 151 A.3d 1032, 1049 (Pa. 2016) (“Texas . . . employs

the most stringent test of any state”); *Holcomb v. Georgia Pac., LLC*, 289 P.3d 188, 195 (Nev. 2012) (“We conclude that the *Flores* application of the ‘substantial factor’ test is too stringent.”).

Most states, by contrast, employ the more qualitative “frequency, regularity, proximity” factors established in *Lohrmann*. South Carolina is among the majority of courts that utilize these factors for substantial causation in asbestos cases. See *Holcomb*, 289 P.3d at 195 (listing states and federal circuit courts that have adopted the *Lohrmann* test). The *Lohrmann* decision described its test as “a *de minimis* rule” in that the plaintiff merely has to “prove more than a casual or minimum contact with the product.” *Lohrmann*, 782 F.2d at 1162. *Lohrmann* is an asbestosis case, and many courts have found that the factors should be applied even less strictly in mesothelioma cases given the scientific evidence that brief or low-level exposures can cause mesothelioma. See *Tragarz v. Keene Corp.*, 980 F.2d 411, 420 (7th Cir. 1992); see also *Bobo v. Tennessee Valley Auth.*, 855 F.3d 1294, 1309 (11th Cir. 2017); *Startley v. Welco Mfg. Co.*, 78 N.E.3d 639, 647 (Ill. Ct. App. 2017); *Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Pranksy*, 800 A.2d 722, 725-26 (Md. Ct. App. 2002); *Purcell v. Asbestos Corp., Ltd.*, 959 P.2d 89, 94 (Or. Ct. App. 1998); *Kurak v. A.P. Green Refractories Co.*, 689 A.2d 757, 765-66 (N.J. Ct. App. 1997).

Indeed, Fisher/Crosby has not cited a single South Carolina case that requires evidence of a mathematical dose to prove causation in a toxic tort case. It is not a requirement of South Carolina law. Nor is it required simply because the Jollys’ experts chose to rely on epidemiology showing that low cumulative doses cause mesothelioma.

Courts in other jurisdictions have consistently rejected Fisher/Crosby’s position and have held expert causation testimony to be reliable and admissible based on a qualitative assessment of the plaintiff’s exposures, not on a quantified dose. See *Hoffeditz v. AM Gen., LLC*, No. CV 09-

0257, 2017 WL 3332263, at *4 (D.N.J. Aug. 4, 2017); *Waite v. All Acquisition Corp.*, 194 F. Supp. 3d 1298, 1313 (S.D. Fla. 2016); *Osterhout v. Crane Co.*, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 35724, at *57-61 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 21, 2016); *Rost*, 151 A.3d at 1051-52; *Davis v. Honeywell Int'l Inc.*, 245 Cal. App. 4th 477, 492 (Cal. Ct. App. 2016), *review denied* (May 25, 2016); *Payne v. CSX Transportation, Inc.*, 467 S.W.3d 413, 457 (Tenn. 2015); *Robertson v. Doug Ashy Bldg. Materials, Inc.*, 77 So. 3d 339, 359 (La. Ct. App. 2011); *John Crane, Inc. v. Linkus*, 988 A.2d 511, 523 (Md. Ct. App. 2010).

At trial, evidence meeting the *Henderson* substantial causation standard was presented by the Jollys and relied on by their experts. Dale testified at length about regularly being present when asbestos gaskets were removed from Fisher/Crosby valves during shutdowns at the Oconee, McGuire, and Catawba nuclear power plants. Those shutdowns lasted months and each plant had at least one shutdown a year. In order to properly inspect the work, he was so close to the mechanics that he could see the dust being released from the brushing and grinding of the asbestos gasket. This occurred constantly during his four years as a mechanical inspector between 1980-84. The evidence showed that Fisher used crocidolite asbestos in at least some of its gaskets and packing.

The Jollys' experts relied on this evidence for their opinions. Dr. Frank read Dale's deposition testimony and noted that this was not a case involving an isolated or one-time exposure, but that for four years Dale's job as an inspector "regularly put him in situations where gasket after gasket was something that he reviewed being taken out and new ones being put in." (R. p. 730, lines 2-11). Both experts were asked hypothetical questions that incorporated all of the relevant exposure facts, including that a regular part of Dale's job for four years was to observe mechanics removing asbestos gaskets from valves, including Fisher/Crosby valves, and

that he was close enough to the work to see and breathe visible dust. Such reliance on this qualitative evidence of exposure is surely sufficient for the experts' opinions to meet the *Henderson* causation standard.

The experts actually went even further, though, and relied on measurements of the specific exposure levels from brushing and grinding of asbestos gaskets. Dr. Frank testified that studies measuring the fiber release from the removal of asbestos gaskets in the manner described by Dale create exposures in the range of 1 to 9 fibers/cc, even to bystanders. (R. p. 735, line 21-p. 736, line 24). Both experts relied on the fact that Dale's exposures from Fisher/Crosby valves were hundreds, thousands, and even millions of times above background levels. (R. p. 734, line 22-p. 736, line 24; R. p. 1547, lines 1-16). The health risk from removing asbestos gaskets and packing was not even disputed by Crosby at trial, whose corporate representative acknowledged this risk associated with its valves. (R. p. 1428, lines 8-22).

There is simply no basis for Crosby and Fisher's contentions that Dr. Frank and Dr. Maddox did not have sufficient information about Dale's exposures, that the evidentiary basis for their opinions was somehow lacking, or that their opinions do not satisfy the *Henderson* causation standard. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting their testimony.

B. The experts have a reliable foundation for their opinions.

Judge Toal found that Dr. Frank and Dr. Maddox had a reliable basis for their specific causation opinions given their reliance on a broad range of scientific evidence as well as the exposure facts proven at trial:

Dr. Frank and Dr. Maddox both relied on their many years of experience in the area of asbestos-related diseases, as well as a broad range of evidence including epidemiology and other scientific literature, the dose-response relationship, the science regarding the low levels of exposure that can cause mesothelioma, the exposure levels documented from working with gaskets and packing in the

manner described by Jolly and Taylor, and the facts surrounding Jolly's exposure to visible dust from Defendants' valves.

(R. p. 41).

Both doctors follow the principles and methods established by the Helsinki criteria for attributing mesothelioma to asbestos exposure. (R. p. 1540, lines 5-13; R. pp. 2942-2943, 2947-2948).⁴ Dr. Maddox uses six criteria to determine whether a particular exposure is a substantial contributing factor in causing disease: (1) it must be a verifiable, factual exposure; (2) above normal background levels; (3) measured above background levels by the presence of visible dust or quantification studies; (4) repetitive; (5) the smaller the exposure, the smaller the relative contribution to causation; and (6) within a 10-year latency period. (R. p. 1541, line 17-p. 1543, p. 12). Dr. Frank has a similar list of criteria for evaluating the relative contribution of specific asbestos exposures:

In determining the relative contribution of any exposures to asbestos above background levels, it is important to consider a number of factors, including: the nature of exposure, the level of exposure and the duration of exposure, whether a product gives off respirable asbestos fibers, the level of exposure, whether a person was close to or far away from the source of fiber release, how frequently the exposure took place and how long the exposure lasted, whether engineering or other methods of dust control were in place, and whether respiratory protection was used.

(R. p. 2947).

⁴ In 1997, a panel of international experts met to establish universally accepted criteria for the diagnosis and attribution of asbestos-related diseases (known as the "Helsinki Criteria"). (R. p. 4431). In 2014, the same group met to reaffirm their position. (R. p. 4438). Among other principles, the Helsinki Criteria state that "[a]n occupational history of brief or low-level exposure should be considered sufficient for mesothelioma to be designated as occupationally related." (R. p. 4433). The Helsinki Criteria thus embraces a qualitative assessment of exposure, in line with the *Henderson* causation standard, rather than a quantitative dose as Fisher/Crosby advocate.

Among other bases for their opinions, Dr. Frank and Dr. Maddox testified that there is no known safe level of asbestos exposure and that mesothelioma can be caused by brief or low level cumulative exposures. (R. p. 698, line 24-p. 700, line 13; R. p. 769, line 16-p. 770, line 5; R. p. 1550, line 24-p. 1541, line 1; R. p. 1541, lines 6-9; R. p. 1545, line 4-p. 1546, line 4; R. p. 1550, line 8-p. 1551, line 6). This testimony is based on voluminous scientific literature and reflects the scientific consensus.⁵ Even defense expert Dr. Crapo admitted that a “very low” level of exposure to crocidolite can cause mesothelioma. (R. p. 1707, lines 8-14).

Yet Fisher/Crosby attempt to distort the experts’ reliance on these basic scientific facts by accusing them of having no other basis for their opinions and using these facts as a means to simply guess at Dale’s exposure levels and at the causation of his disease. The Jollys’ experts have never opined, as Fisher/Crosby suggest, that the lack of a known threshold is in and of itself proof of causation. Rather, as Judge Toal found, “[t]hese experts were entitled to rely on these

⁵ See, e.g., R. pp. 2859-2880; R. pp. 2943-2946; R. pp. 4414-4421; R. pp. 4458-4459; R. pp. 4512-4513; R. p. 4521; R. p. 4527, 4529; R. p. 4547.

All national and international agencies and organizations that have looked at the question have concluded that there is no safe level of exposure to asbestos. These include the World Health Organization, the International Agency for Research on Cancer, the Environmental Protection Agency, the American Cancer Society, the National Cancer Institute, the Occupational Health and Safety Association (OSHA), the National Institutes of Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), and the U.S. Consumer Products Safety Commission. (R. pp. 4415-4417, 4461, 4465, 4468, 4472, 4482, 4497, 4502; R. pp. 2868-2869). For example, in 1976, NIOSH reported that “[e]xcessive cancer risks have been demonstrated at all fiber concentrations studied to date. Evaluation of all available human data provides no evidence for a threshold or for a ‘safe’ level of asbestos exposure.” (R. p. 2671). As recently as 2014, OSHA published that “[a]sbestos exposures as short as in duration as a few days have caused mesothelioma in humans.” (R. p. 4461).

As explained by Dr. Maddox, epidemiological studies have established that low cumulative asbestos exposures cause mesothelioma. (R. p. 1550, line 8 – p. 1551, line 6; R. p. 4586 (cumulative exposure between 0.5 and 0.99 f/cc years carries relative risk of 4.2); R. p. 4598 (cumulative exposure up to 0.15 f/cc-years has odds ratio of 7.9); R. pp. 4606-4607 (cumulative dose between 0 and .07 fiber years has odds ratio of 2.8); R. p. 4613 (cumulative exposure between >0 - 0.1 fiber year has odds ratio of 4.0 and cumulative exposure between >.1 - 1 fiber year has odds ratio of 8.3)).

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